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and as further amended by the Fair Labor 
Standards Amendments of 1989, the Omnibus 
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990, the Com-
pactor and Balers Safety Standards Mod-
ernization Act of 1996, and the Genetic Infor-
mation Nondiscrimination Act of 2008, pro-
vides for the imposition of civil money pen-
alties in the following manner: 

(1)(i) Any person who violates the provi-
sions of sections 212 or 213(c) of the FLSA, 
relating to child labor, or any regulation 
issued pursuant to such sections, shall be 
subject to a civil penalty not to exceed: 

(A) $11,000 for each employee who was the 
subject of such a violation; or 

(B) $50,000 with regard to each such viola-
tion that causes the death or serious injury 
of any employee under the age of 18 years, 
which penalty may be doubled where the vio-
lation is a repeated or willful violation. 

(ii) For purposes of paragraph (a)(1)(i)(B) of 
this section, the term ‘‘serious injury’’ 
means: 

(A) Permanent loss or substantial impair-
ment of one of the senses (sight, hearing, 
taste, smell, tactile sensation); 

(B) Permanent loss or substantial impair-
ment of the function of a bodily member, 
organ, or mental faculty, including the loss 
of all or part of an arm, leg, foot, hand or 
other body part; or 

(C) Permanent paralysis or substantial im-
pairment that causes loss of movement or 
mobility of an arm, leg, foot, hand or other 
body part. 

(2) Any person who repeatedly or willfully 
violates section 206 or 207 of the FLSA, relat-
ing to wages, shall be subject to a civil pen-
alty not to exceed $1,100 for each such viola-
tion. 

(3) In determining the amount of any pen-
alty under section 216(e) of the FLSA, the 
appropriateness of such penalty to the size of 
the business of the person charged and the 
gravity of the violation shall be considered. 
The amount of any penalty under section 
216(e) of the FLSA, when finally determined, 
may be: 

(i) Deducted from any sums owing by the 
United States to the person charged; 

(ii) Recovered in a civil action brought by 
the Secretary in any court of competent ju-
risdiction, in which litigation the Secretary 
shall be represented by the Solicitor of 
Labor; or 

(iii) Ordered by the court, in an action 
brought for a violation of section 215(a)(4) or 
a repeated or willful violation of section 
215(a)(2) of the FLSA, to be paid to the Sec-
retary. 

(4) Any administrative determination by 
the Secretary of the amount of any penalty 
under section 216(e) of the FLSA shall be 
final, unless within 15 days after receipt of 
notice thereof by certified mail the person 
charged with the violation takes exception 
to the determination that the violations for 

which the penalty is imposed occurred, in 
which event final determination of the pen-
alty shall be made in an administrative pro-
ceeding after opportunity for hearing in ac-
cordance with section 554 of title 5, United 
States Code, and regulations to be promul-
gated by the Secretary. 

(5) Except for civil penalties collected for 
violations of section 212 of the FLSA, sums 
collected as penalties pursuant to section 
216(e) of the FLSA shall be applied toward 
reimbursement of the costs of determining 
the violations and assessing and collecting 
such penalties, in accordance with the provi-
sion of section 202 of the Act entitled ‘‘An 
Act to authorize the Department of Labor to 
make special statistical studies upon pay-
ment of the cost thereof and for other pur-
poses’’ (29 U.S.C. 9a). Civil penalties col-
lected for violations of section 212 shall be 
deposited in the general fund of the Treas-
ury. 

* * * * * 

§ 579.2 Definitions. 
As used in this part and part 580 of 

this chapter: 
Act means the Fair Labor Standards 

Act of 1938, as amended (52 Stat. 1060, 
as amended; 29 U.S.C. 201, et seq.); 

Administrative law judge means a per-
son appointed as provided in 5 U.S.C. 
3105 and subpart B of part 930 of title 5 
of the CFR, and qualified to preside at 
hearings under 5 U.S.C. 554–557. 

Administrator means the Adminis-
trator of the Wage and Hour Division, 
Employment Standards Administra-
tion, U.S. Department of Labor, and in-
cludes an authorized representative 
designated by the Administrator to 
perform any of the functions of the Ad-
ministrator under this part and part 
580 of this chapter. 

Agency has the meaning given it by 5 
U.S.C. 551. 

Chief Administrative Law Judge means 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge, 
Office of Administrative Law Judges, 
U.S. Department of Labor, 800 K 
Street, NW., Suite 400, Washington, DC 
20001–8002. 

Department means the U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor. 

Person includes any individual, part-
nership, corporation, association, busi-
ness trust, legal representative, or or-
ganized group of persons. 

Secretary means the Secretary of 
Labor, U.S. Department of Labor, or an 
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authorized representative of the Sec-
retary. 

Solicitor of Labor means the Solicitor, 
U.S. Department of Labor, and includes 
attorneys designated by the Solicitor 
to perform functions of the Solicitor 
under this part and part 780 of this 
chapter. 

[40 FR 25792, June 18, 1975, as amended at 40 
FR 53237, Nov. 17, 1975; 56 FR 54708, Oct. 22, 
1991] 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 75 FR 28461, May 
20, 2010, § 579.2 was revised, effective July 19, 
2010. For the convenience of the user, the re-
vised text is set forth as follows: 

§ 579.2 Definitions. 
As used in this part and part 580 of this 

chapter: 
Act means the Fair Labor Standards Act of 

1938, as amended (52 Stat. 1060, as amended; 
29 U.S.C. 201, et seq.). 

Administrative law judge means a person ap-
pointed as provided in 5 U.S.C. 3105 and sub-
part B of part 930 of title 5 of the CFR, and 
qualified to preside at hearings under 5 
U.S.C. 554–557. 

Administrator means the Administrator of 
the Wage and Hour Division, U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor, and includes an authorized 
representative designated by the Adminis-
trator to perform any of the functions of the 
Administrator under this part and part 580 of 
this chapter. 

Agency has the meaning given it by 5 
U.S.C. 551. 

Chief Administrative Law Judge means the 
Chief Administrative Law Judge, Office of 
Administrative Law Judges, U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor, 800 K Street, NW., Suite 400, 
Washington, DC 20001–8002. 

Department means the U.S. Department of 
Labor. 

Person includes any individual, partner-
ship, corporation, association, business 
trust, legal representative, or organized 
group of persons. 

Repeated violations has two components. An 
employer’s violation of section 12 or section 
13(c) of the Act relating to child labor or any 
regulation issued pursuant to such sections 
shall be deemed to be repeated for purposes of 
this section: 

(1) Where the employer has previously vio-
lated section 12 or section 13(c) of the Act re-
lating to child labor or any regulation issued 
pursuant to such sections, provided the em-
ployer has previously received notice, 
through a responsible official of the Wage 
and Hour Division or otherwise authori-
tatively, that the employer allegedly was in 
violation of the provisions of the Act; or, 

(2) Where a court or other tribunal has 
made a finding that an employer has pre-
viously violated section 12 or section 13(c) of 

the Act relating to child labor or any regula-
tion issued pursuant to such sections, unless 
an appeal therefrom which has been timely 
filed is pending before a court or other tri-
bunal with jurisdiction to hear the appeal, or 
unless the finding has been set aside or re-
versed by such appellate tribunal. 

Secretary means the Secretary of Labor, 
U.S. Department of Labor, or an authorized 
representative of the Secretary. 

Serious injury means: 
(1) Permanent loss or substantial impair-

ment of one of the senses (sight, hearing, 
taste, smell, tactile sensation); 

(2) Permanent loss or substantial impair-
ment of the function of a bodily member, 
organ, or mental faculty, including the loss 
of all or part of an arm, leg, foot, hand or 
other body part; or, 

(3) Permanent paralysis or substantial im-
pairment that causes loss of movement or 
mobility of an arm, leg, foot, hand or other 
body part. 

Solicitor of Labor means the Solicitor, U.S. 
Department of Labor, and includes attorneys 
designated by the Solicitor to perform func-
tions of the Solicitor under this part and 
part 780 of this chapter. 

Willful violations under this section has sev-
eral components. An employer’s violation of 
section 12 or section 13(c) of the Act relating 
to child labor or any regulation issued pursu-
ant to such sections, shall be deemed to be 
willful for purposes of this section where the 
employer knew that its conduct was prohib-
ited by the Act or showed reckless disregard 
for the requirements of the Act. All of the 
facts and circumstances surrounding the vio-
lation shall be taken into account in deter-
mining whether a violation was willful. In 
addition, for purposes of this section, an em-
ployer’s conduct shall be deemed knowing, 
among other situations, if the employer re-
ceived advice from a responsible official of 
the Wage and Hour Division to the effect 
that the conduct in question is not lawful. 
For purposes of this section, an employer’s 
conduct shall be deemed to be in reckless 
disregard of the requirements of the Act, 
among other situations, if the employer 
should have inquired further into whether its 
conduct was in compliance with the Act, and 
failed to make adequate further inquiry. 

§ 579.3 Violations for which child labor 
civil money penalties may be as-
sessed. 

(a) What constitutes the violation. Each 
of the following constitutes a violation 
of the Act and/or the Secretary’s regu-
lations for which a penalty as provided 
by section 16(e) of the Act and this part 
may be imposed, unless employment of 
the minor or minors referred to is 
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